ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The Circuit Court erred in considering the testimony of Jefferson David 

Cantrell and Leslie Charlene Cantrell based on the clear evidence of false 

statements made by said individuals during testimony and false sworn 

statements filed by said individuals with the Court. 

2. The Circuit Court erred in failing to find and conclude that the Petitioners 

had proven the necessary elements of an easement by prescription. 

3. The Circuit Court erred in failing to find and conclude that the Petitioners 

had proven the necessary elements of an easement by implication by 

showing of reasonable necessity. 

4. The Circuit Court erred in concluding that there was no credible evidence 

to establish a prescriptive easement by a showing of reasonable necessity. 

5. The Circuit Court erred by failing to make any findings or conclusions that 

Petitioners had any other means of necessary access to Lots 127-129 by 

which to utilize said property for its intended purpose and former use as a 

house site. 

6. The Circuit Court erred by failing to make any findings or conclusions 

regarding the numerous photographs, aerial maps and survey plat which 

all provided clear and convincing evidence of the existence and use of the 

roadway/easement over a period of at least thirty years. 

7. The Circuit Court erred by failing to make any finding or conclusion 

regarding the testimony of the Petitioners' surveyor, Dexter Branham. 

8. The Circuit Court erred by failing to make any finding or conclusion 
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I 

regarding the Court's site view of the subject real propJrty. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE I 

This matter was originally filed as a Petition for Injunctive Relief [See Appendix 

(hereinafter App.) ,Pages 1-27] and initially proceeded to hearing on June 12, 2015 

(See Transcript of Trial, (hereinafter "'IT") Vol. II) before the Honorable John 

Cummings, a Senior Status Judge appointed to preside over this matter. The only witness to 

testify on this date was Joseph Michael Cantrell. The Petitioners and Respondent, Jefferson 

David Cantrell (hereinafter Dave) are all siblings and the children of Delmon and Beulah 

Cantrell, while Respondent Leslie Charlene Cantrell is the spouse of Jefferson David Cantrell. 

Upon Petitioners' Motion to Amend the Pleadings to Conform to the Evidence (App. Pg. 59-

60) the Court, on December 14, 2015, (See 'IT, Vol. IV A and B) granted said motion and 

allowed the Petitioners to proceed with their action to establish an easement across the real 

property of Respondents. The matter was also heard on September 22,2015, (See 'IT, Vol. 

III A and B) December 6th and ih, 2016, (See 'IT, Vol. IV A and B, Vol. V) and concluded 

on February 21, 2017.(See 'IT, Vol. VI) 

The real property involved in this matter comprises an entire block measuring 250' x 200' 

and consisting of twenty (20) lots measuring 25' x 100' (Lots 88-93 and Lots 124-133). as set 

forth on the plat of survey prepared by Dexter Branham of Trace Surveying. 

(See App. Pg. 191-192) This block is bounded by Varney Street (adjacent to Lots 84 and 

133), First Street (below and adjacent to Lots 84-93), White Street (adjacent to Lots 93 and 

124) and Second Street (above and adjacent to Lots 124-133). (See App. Pg. 191-192) Varney 

Street was never constructed and remains unimproved real estate with the exception of a very 

small portion thereof which was paved to gain access to the real property on which Joseph 

Michael Cantrell and his family now reside. Second Street was only partially constructed and 

5 



i 

ac~ally has a home built upon the right of way for the same which coJpletely obstructs the 

completion of said street. (See TT Vol. IV A, at pg.35, lines 24-25 and at ~g.36, lines 1-11) There 

is no means of any vehicle access to any lots in the subject block from Second Street. (See TT 

Vol. IV A, at pg.34, lines 16-25 and at pg.35, lines 1-23) That in 1991, Joseph Michael Cantrell 

(hereinafter Mike) and his wife, Sheila Cantrell, purchased Lots 84-87 and 130-133, 

(hereinafter the New Property) as found in Deed Book 318 at Page 88 in the Office of the 

Clerk of the Mingo County Commission, Mingo County, West Virginia. (See App. Pg. 238-

240) 

With the purchase of Lots 84-87 and 130-133, the Cantrell family now owned the entire 

block oflots described hereinabove, Lots 88-93 and Lots 124-133. The issue before the Court 

was whether the Petitioners had established an easement through prescription and/or 

implication to cross the real property belonging to the Respondents to access part of the real 

property (See App. Pg. 259-261, Jewell 10, Lots 127-129) inherited by the Petitioners 

from their mother, Beulah Cantrell. 

The Petitioners are the owners and remaindermen oflots 124-129, 'with Craig Cantrell 

(hereinafter Craig) having a life estate in said Lots, pursuant to the Last Will and Testament of 

Beulah Cantrell, who passed away in November 2009, her husband having previously passed 

away in 2006. Beulah Cantrell and her husband originally owned Lots 124-129 and Lots 88-

93, (hereinafter the Old Property) obtaining said lots in three separate purchases-Lots 127-129 

in Deed Book 142 at Page 269 (1960), (See App. Pg. 259-261, Jewell10),Lots 124-126 in 

Deed Book 157 at Page 278 (1963), (See App. Pg. 265-267, Jewell 13) and Lots 88-93 in 

Deed Book 202 at Page 345 (1973), (See App. Pg. 249-256, Jewell 8) with all deeds being 

found in the Office of the Clerk ofthe Mingo County Commission, Mingo Co., WV. 

Jefferson David Cantrell obtained title to Lots 88-93 from his mother, Beulah Cantrell, in 
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2006 (See App. Pg. 247-248, Jewell 7) after the death of his father, Delmon, although he 

constructed a home on said lots in the 1980'S. He then obtained title to Lots 84-87 and 130-

133 in June 1999, when Joseph Michael Cantrell and Sheila Cantrell sold Lots 84-87 and 130-

133 to Jefferson David Cantrell and Leslie Charlene Cantrell. (See App. Pg. 236-237, Jewell 

1) 

That beginning in 1993, having purchased Lots 84-87 and 130-133, Mike used and 

maintained a roadway from Varney Street across Lots 84-87 and 130-132 to the real property, 

identified as Lots 127-129, the home (hereinafter the old home place) which was previously 

situate on Lots 128 and 129 and a sawmill he constructed upon Lots 131 and 132. (See TT Vol. 

II, at pg.24, lines 2-24) Mike, and later his family, occupied the old home place from 

approximately 1979 through 2006. (See TT Vol. II, at pg.13, lines 2-8) Joseph Michael 

Cantrell, his family, brothers and sisters, friend and invitees continued to utilize said roadway 

adversely, continuously and openly on a regular basis from June 1999 (the date of sale from 

Mike and Sheila to Dave and Charlene) through at least November 2009 (when Beulah 

Cantrell passed away)(See TT Vol. II, at pg.24, lines 2-24) and thereafter on a less regular 

basis. Both Mike and Dave acknowledged that Mike never asked permission to use the 

roadway or maintain his sawmill (which was removed in 2010) on Dave's real property. (See 

TT Vol. III B, at pg.242, lines 6-8 and lines 13-16 and pg.278, lines 14-20) Joseph Michael 

Cantrell and Sheila Cantrell moved into a new home in 2006 (See TT Vol. II, at pg.13, lines 6-

8) and the old home place was demolished shortly thereafter. Mike's new home is situate on 

the other side of Varney Street across from Lots 84-87 and 130-133. Joseph Michael Cantrell, 

his family, brothers and sisters, friend and invitees continued to use the roadway on a regular 

basis after the old home place was demolished to access the sawmill, to visit and transport 

their mother, to travel between Mike's new home and for parking. (See TT Vol. II, at pg.24, 
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lines 2-24 and TT Vol. II, at pg.71, lines 2-24) I 

Some time in 2014-2015, a dispute arose between Petitioners and RJspondents over the 

continued use of the roadway from Varney Street across Lots 84-87 and 130-132 to the real 

property, identified as Lots 127-129. Craig desired to construct an apartment on Lots 128-129, 

(See TT Vol. III A, at pg.71, lines 18-19 and pg.72, lines 1-9) as Craig was and is living in the 

former home of Delmon and Beulah Cantrell (hereinafter the new home place) and felt it was 

too large for him to reside in alone. (See TT Vol. III A, at pg.72, lines 5-9) Lots 128-129 are 

inaccessible by any other means than through the real property belonging to David Cantrell 

and his wife (See TT Vol. III A, at pgs75, lines 12-18 and pg.71, lines 1-3)as there are two septic 

tank systems filling all the yard space (with no space available to relocate the same), of the 

new home place which might allow access to Lots 128-129 (the Old Home) from White Street. 

(See TT Vol. III A, at pg.73, lines 1-19, pg.75, lines 1-11) The area above Lots 128-129 being too 

steep and rocky for vehicle access. (See TT Vol. IV A, at pg.34, lines 16-25 and at pg.35, lines 1-

23) 

The Petitioners sought access to their landlocked real property through either a 

prescribed easement or an implied easement by necessity. After hearings held on various 

dates totaling five days beginning in June 2015 and ending in February 2017, the Court 

entered an Order in January 2018 denying the Petitioners any relief in regard to establishing 

an easement and further denied any relief to the Respondents in regard to their Counter-

Claim for damages for the Petitioners cutting off their supply of water from the well on 

Petitioners' real property. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

1. The Circuit Court erred in considering the testimony of Jefferson David 

Cantrell and Leslie Charlene Cantrell based on the clear evidence of false 

8 



I 
I 

statements made by said individuals during testimony bd false sworn 

statements filed by said individuals with the Court. , 

The evidence during trial was clear, convincing and uncontroveited concerning the 

past existence of a roadway across Lots84-87 and 130-133 which ended at Lot 129. 

However, Jefferson David Cantrell and Leslie Charlene Cantrell persisted in denying 

the very existence of a roadway across said lots, both in a sworn affidavit and in their 

testimony, to such an extent that the credibility of any of their testimony must be 

questioned. 

2. The Circuit Court erred in failing to find and conclude that the Petitioners 

had proven the necessary elements of an easement by prescription. 

The Petitioners, their witness and their expert proved, through their testimony and 

exhibits, all elements necessary to establish an easement by prescription by clear and 

convincing evidence. Further, the testimony during trial does not support the Court's 

findings that Petitioners' use of the New Property was permissive, per the testimony of 

David Cantrell (whose testimony cannot be deemed credible in light of the numerous 

untruthful statements from said individual), rather than adverse, for the requisite 

period, and further does not support the finding that the use was not sufficiently open 

and notorious as the roadway/easement is in plain view of Respondents' home. The 

Court made no findings concerning the proven existence of the roadway/easement 

through testimony, maps, plats and photographs which clearly established the location, 

width, beginning point and ending point of the roadway/easement. 

3. The Circuit Court erred in failing to find and conclude that the Petitioners 

had proven the necessary elements of an easement by implication by 

showing of reasonable necessity. 
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4. The Circuit Court erred in concluding that there was nJ credible evidence 

to establish a prescriptive easement by a showing ofrelsonable necessity. 
! 

The Court viewed the subject real property and it was evident there was no other means 

of access to the Petitioners' property except through Respondents' property and failing 

to grant an easement renders the Petitioners' Lots 127-129 unusable and worthless as it 

is landlocked. Further these Lots were purchased separately from the remainder of the 

Old Property, with a residence thereon at the time of purchase. All elements necessary 

to establish an easement by implication through reasonable necessity were proven by 

clear and convincing evidence as the 2006 transfer of real property by Beulah Cantrell 

to David Cantrell left her no means of vehicular access to Lots 127-129 and therefore no 

ability to construct a new residence upon the same. (its intended purpose at purchase 

and prior use) 

5. The Circuit Court erred by failing to make any findings or conclusions that 

Petitioners had any other means of necessary access to Lots 127-129 by 

which to utilize said property for its intended purpose and former use as a 

house site. 

The Petitioners' testimony was that Craig Cantrell intended to construct a residence 

upon Lots 128-129 and without an easement for access the supplies and equipment 

necessary for construction cannot be moved to the said Lots as there is no means of 

access from Second Avenue nor through the yard of the remaining Lots of the Old 

Property (Lots 124-127) from White Street because of the septic systems situate 

therein. 

6. The Circuit Court erred by failing to make any findings or conclusions 

regarding the numerous photographs, aerial maps and survey plat which 
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all provided clear and convincing evidence of the existe~ce and use of the 
I 

roadway/easement over a period of at least thirty yearJ. 

The numerous photographs, aerial maps, survey plat and testimony established the 

existence and use of the roadway/easement across Lots 84-87 and 130-133 for a period 

in excess of thirty years prior to the ownership of the said Lots by any party herein and 

another sixteen years prior to this action being filed in 2015. 

7. The Circuit Court erred by failing to make any findings or conclusions 

regarding the testimony of the Petitioners' surveyor, Dexter Branham. 

The Court completely disregarded and failed to take into account the testimony 

Petitioners' expert and surveyor who located and mapped the roadway/easement, the 

existence of which was denied by Respondents. 

8. The Circuit Court erred by failing to make any findings or conclusions 

regarding the Court's site view of the subject real property. 

The Court does not mention its site view which provided clear evidence of the only two 

means of access to Lots 127-129 (First Avenue and Varney Street) in that the Court 

made no finding that said Lots could be accessed from Second Avenue or White Street. 

(as it was evident from the site view that there was no access from either) 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

The Appellants believe that oral argument would be of assistance to the Court and 

provide the Court an opportunity to resolve any questions it might have regarding the issues 

raised on appeal. 

ARGUMENT 

1. The Circuit Court erred in considering the testimony of Jefferson David 

Cantrell and Leslie Charlene Cantrell based on the clear evidence of false 
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statements made by said individuals during testimony ~nd false sworn 

statements filed by said individuals with the Court. I 
, 

The Respondents filed an affidavit, dated September 18, 2015, (See App. pg. 

54-55), in which they stated, "the road (which they claim is an easement) in question 

was never built to my brother's (brother in law's) heirship property Oot 129)." (See 

App. pg. 54, paragraph 3, lines 1-2) This sworn statement was proven false by 

their own Exhibit, a Google Earth Map dated 2002, (See App. pg. 213) which clearly 

shows the roadway/easement extending to the Old House on Lot 129. Later in the same 

affidavit Respondents contradict themselves at (See App. pg 55, paragraph 9, lines 

2-3), wherein they state "my brother and the other heirs want to build a road where 

one has never been" and (See App. pg. 55, paragraph 11, lines 2-3), when they 

state, "There was never a road in the location where he wants to build it". This 

statement is again disproved by their own Exhibit, the Google Earth Map dated 2002 

which clearly shows where the roadway/easement had been and contradicts their 

admission that there was a road, (See App. pg. 54, paragraph 3, lines 1-2), and 

their statement concerning, "the previous road which we removed". (See App. pg. 55, 

paragraph 11, lines 4) Leslie Charlene Cantrell later admitted under cross 

examination admitted that Mike put a road in and it was there when they bought the 

property. (See IT Vol. VI, at pg.127, lines 16-25 and pg. 128, lines 1-21) 

Within said affidavit, the Respondents also stated at (See App. pg. 54, 

paragraph 2, lines 1-2), "no one has come across the property in question since 

2004". However, David later testified that Mike continued to use the 

roadway/easement through at "least through 2007". (See IT Vol. III B, at pg.278, 

lines 23-24 and pg.279, lines 1-8) Leslie Charlene Cantrell also testified that Mike 
i 
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I 
Cantrell drove across their property daily when he lived there, (See IT Vol. VI, at 

I 
pg.142, lines 14-17) with the year Mike and his family moved ~eing undisputed as 

2006. 

Respondents further stated "we never prevented the Petitioners from using the 

property and if he did use it, it was with our permission." App. pg. 54, paragraph 6. 

This statement was also contradicted by Jefferson David Cantrell in his 

transcribed cross examination testimony, four days after signing the affidavit, on 

September 22, 2015, when asked by his own counsel whether he let Mike and his other 

brother use the road crossing his property, stated "I never did---1 mean, they never 

come and ask me."(See TT Vol. III B, at pg.242, lines 6-8) and later in his testimony 

when asked if there was ever any discussion about the use of the road, said "He never 

come and asked me, no." (See TT Vol. III B, at pg.278, lines 14-20) Jefferson David 

Cantrell repeatedly shifted his testimony between talking about the road across his 

property and then denying the very existence of a road across his property. The 

Respondents' own surveyor was even forced to admit that his client's testimony was not 

truthful. (See TT Vol. VI, at pg.56 lines 22-25 and pg.57 lines 1-23) 

Despite overwhelming evidence to the contrary, the Respondents refused to 

acknowledge the very existence of the very clearly defined roadway running from 

Varney Street across Lots 84, 85, 86, 87, 130, 131, and 132 and ending at the 

Petitioners' real property (Lot 129). The location and existence of the same is 

demonstrated by clear and convincing evidence in the form of testimony, admitted 

evidence, photographs and most clearly the Google Earth image (See App. pg.173) from 

2002 which clearly shows the existence of, location, starting point and ending point of 

the roadway. 
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The Court is left with no choice but to find that the Respohdents, when 

I 
considering their flip flopping testimony in regard to the very existence of the subject 

! 

roadway across Lots 84-87 and 130-133, have been completely untruthful in regard to 

said testimony, the Respondents living and residing, for over thirty years, within 

eyesight of the said roadway. The Court can lend no credibility to any testimony of the 

Respondents as they have clearly demonstrated their determination to maintain 

outright untruthfulness under oath in the face of clear and convincing documentary 

evidence and testimony to the contrary. The Court can only conclude it was the 

Respondents' intent to deceive the Court. Their own surveyor even testified to the 

existence of the roadway and further evidence of this untruthfulness is evident in the 

affidavit of the Respondents as set forth above. Further there is that certain statement 

in the verified pleadings of the Respondents wherein they state that there are 

absolutely no visible signs of the alleged easement so as to make it reasonably 

susceptible of detection, knowing they possessed and entered as evidence a Google 

Earth Map image from 2002, (See App. pg. 213) which very clearly shows, delineates 

and makes visible the very roadway they allege is undetectable. Respondents have also 

asserted in pleadings that once Mike sold David the New Property (Lots 84,85, 86, 87, 

130, 131, 132 and 133) in 1999, Mike traversed the New Property only sporadically. This 

argument by Respondents completely ignores David's testimony on cross-examination 

(See IT Vol. III B, at pg.278, lines 23-24 and pg.279, lines 1-8) wherein David 

admits that Mike utilized the easement at least once or twice a week through 2007. 

Photographic evidence was admitted at said hearing which clearly also showed Mike 

utilizing the easement to access the old home place in which he resided and parking 

thereon. (See App. pg. 176,178,179.180, 181, 182 and183) That the Respondents' 
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argument concerning alternative access is irrelevant in regard td the establishment of 
! 

an easement by prescription as the same is not one of the four el~ments set forth as 

necessary to establish an easement by prescription. Alternative access is relevant in 

regard to an easement by necessity if the Court DOES NOT find and grant an 

easement by prescription in favor of the Petitioners.

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