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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

4 
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Although the substantive portion of the Petitioners' brief cbntains eight separate 

headings, their arguments on appeal can essentially be boiled dmvn to two categories of 

Issues. 

First. the Petitioners attack the sufficiencv of the evidence to sustain the Circuit 
, "' 

Court's ruling. Yet the Circuit Court is afforded broad discretion in its consideration of 

the evidence and findings of fact therefrom. Here, it is clear that there is sufficient 

evidence in the record to sustain the Circuit Court's findings of fact. And being that there 

is no dispute about the applicable law, the application of the Circuit Court's findings of 

fact to the undisputed law leads to but one conclusion-the Petitioners failed to establish 

a prescriptive or implied easement as alleged in this lmvsuit 

Second, the Petitioners make several related tecP.J1ical attacks on the Final Order, 

contending that it failed to address or mention various pieces of evidence presented at 

trial. Hmvever, the Petitioners complaints about the Final Order are either unfounded or, 

at best constitute mere harmless error. In either event, the Final Order is not vulnerable 

to the Petitioners' technical attacks. 

As detailed bel my, the Petitioners' appeal is \vholly \vithout merit. Consequently, the 

Respondents request that this COUli impose sanctions on the Petitioners for filing a frivolous 

appeal. 

5 
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I 
STATEl\1ENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

i 

The Respondents submit that oral argument would be beneficial in this matter 

given the numerous facts and issues raised herein and, further, it would provide the Court 

an opportunity to ask counsel any questions the Justices may have regarding the same. 

The Respondents request that the matter be set for Rule 19 argument because it involves 

alleged errors in the application of narrow issues of settled law and questions about the 

sufficiency andlor \veight of the evidence. 

ARGUMENT 

I. STANDARD OF REVIE\V 

"'This Court reviews the circuit court's final order and ultimate disposition under 

an abuse of discretion standard .... [and] review[ s] challenges to findings of fact under a 

clearly erroneous standard; conclusions of lmv are review-ed de novo.'" Syl. Pt. 2, Absure, 

Inc. v. HLiffman, 213 W. Va. 651, 584 S.E.2d 507 (2003) (quoting Syl. Pt. 4, Burgess v. 

Porterfield, 196 W. Va. 178, 469 S.E.2d 114 (1996)); accord Appellants' Br. at 20-21 

(citing Walker v. W Va. Ethics Comm'n, 201 vv. Va. 108,492 S.E.2d 167 (1997)). 

The abuse of discretion standard applicable to the ultimate disposition is defined 

in three principal ways: (1) when a relevant factor that should have been 
given significant w-eight is not considered; (2) when all prdper factors, and 
no improper ones, are considered, but ... in weighing th6se factors [the 

6 



judge] commits a clear error of judgment: and (3) when the ljudge] fails to 

exercise any discretion at all in issuing the order. 

Banker v. Banker, 196 \V. Va. 535, 548,474 S.E.2d 465, 478 (1996). 

The clearly erroneous standard applicable to factual findings is defined as 

when, although there is evidence to support the finding, the review'ing court 
on the entire evidence is left ,"vith the definite and firm conviction that a 
mistake has been committed. However. a reviewing court mav not overturn 

, '- J 

a finding simply because it \vould have decided the case differently, and it 
must affirm a finding if the circuit comi's account of the evidence is 
plausible in light of the record viewed in its entirety. 

Syl. Pt. 2, Co-wger v. Cowger, 240 \V Va. 301, 810 S.E.2d 921 (2018) (quoting Syl. Pt. 3, 

Estate of Bossio v. Bossio, 237 \V Va. 130, 785 S.E.2d 836 (2016) (internal citation 

omitted)). 

And finally, "[t]he term 'de novo' means 'Ane\v; afresh: a second time'" such that 

this Court "give[ s] a ne\\', complete and unqualified review to the [conclusions of law 

made by] the circuit court." Gastar Exploration Inc. v. Rine, 239 \V. Va. 792, 798, 806 

S.E.2d 448, 454 (20 l7) (footnotes and internal quotation marks omitted). 

II. PETITIONERS' ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR ARE \VITHOUT 
l\1ERIT 

1. The Circuit Court did not commit reversible error III 

crediting David and Leslie's testimony 

7 
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In short. the Petitioners contend that David and Leslie's testilhonv \vas not credible 

~ i ... 

based on their purportedly conflicting and "shifting" testimony. See Appellants' Br. at 

11-15. 

As an initial matter. how-ever. the Petitioners cite absolutelY no legal authority for 
~, .!........' 

their contention. See id On that basis alone, this Court ought to reject the Petitioners' 

argument. See 'vV Va. R. App. P. 1 O( c )(7) ("The [petitioner's] brief must contain an 

argument exhibiting clearly the points of fact and law presented . . . and citing the 

authorities relied on, under headings that correspond \vith the assignments of 

error." (emphasis added)); In re PE., No. 16-0650, 2017 'vVL 75957, at '~2 ('vV Va. filed 

Jan. 9, 2017) (unpublished) ("[I]n an Administrative Order entered December 10, 2012, 

Re: Filings That Do Not Comply With the Rules of Appellate Procedure, then-Chief 

Justice Menis E. Ketchum specifically noted in paragraph two that '[b ]riefs that lack 

citation of authority [or] fail to structure an argument applying applicable law-' are not in 

compliance with this Court's rules."); e.g., Cash N Go, Inc. v. Spruce, No. 17-0311,2018 

WL 2175703, at *3 (W. Va. filed May 11,2018) (unpublished) (where the appellant 

"provide[ d] no authority for its assertion that Maryland law applies in this matter," this 

Court "deem[ ed] this issue waived"). 

Alternatively. even on the merits. Dayid and Leslie's credibility is best determined .,t, _ .,t 

by the first-hand observer in the trial COUIt rather than the cold record before an appellate 

8 
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court. See Brmvn v. Gobble, 196 \V Va. 559, 563, 474 S.~.2d 489, 493 (1996) 

("Following a bench trial, ... due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the circuit 

judge to evaluate the credibility of the witnesses." (citing \V Va. R. Civ. P. 52(a)); In re 

Faith c., 226 \V Va. 188, 195, 699 S.E.2d 730, 737 (2010) ("[\V]hen findings are based 

on detenllinations regarding the credibility ofw'itnesses, Rule 52(a) demands even greater 

deference to the trial comi's findings .... Deference is appropriate because the trial judge 

\vas on the spot and is better able than an appellate court to decide \vhether the error 

affected substantial rights of the parties." (internal quotation marks omitted»: State v. 

Guthrie, 194 \V Va. 657, 669 n.9, 461 S.E.2d 163, 175 n.9 (1995) ("An appellate court 

may not decide the credibility of \vitnesses or \veigh evidence as that is the exclusive 

function and task of the trier of fact. It is for the jury to decide \vhich witnesses to 

believe or disbelieve. Once the jury has spoken, this Court may not revie\v the credibility 

of the witnesses." (citation omitted». 

Therefore, for either of the two reasons set fOlih above, the Petitioners' first point 

on appeal is wholly without merit. 

2. The Circuit Court did not commit reversible error in 
concluding that the Petitioners failed to prove an 
easement by prescription 

9 



I 
As an initial matter, "[p]rescriptive easements are not favordd in the law." O'Dell 

! 

v. Stegall, 226 \V. Va. 590, 608-09,703 S.E.2d 561, 579-80 (2010). Accordingly, "[a] 

person claiming a prescriptive easement must establish each element ... by clear and 

convincing evidence, and the failure to establish anyone element is fatal to the claim." 

Svl. Pt. 3. id. -' . 

""'[C]lear and convincing" is the measure or degree of proof that will produce in 

the mind of the factfinder a finn belief or conviction as to the allegations sought to be 

established.'" Id. at 608, 703 S.E.2d at 579 (quoting Brown, 196 'vv. Va. at 564, 474 S.E. 

2d at 494). This is a higher standard of proof than the ordinary preponderance of the 

evidence. See Brmvn, 196 'vv. Va. at 564, 474 S.E.2d at 494. 

In the instant case, the Circuit Court denied the Petitioners' prescriptive easement 

claim on two grounds: (1) the Petitioners' use was not adverse but rather permissive and, 

alternatively, (2) the Petitioners' use \vas not sufficiently open and notorious. (App. Vol. 

LB at 166.) 

a. The Petitioners' Use vVas Permissive Rather 
Than Adverse 

In the context of prescriptive easements, there is no presumption that the 

continuous and unintelTupted use of another's land for 10 years is adverse, but, rather, the 

proponent of the easement must affinnatively establish the element of adversity. See 

O'Dell, 226 W. Va. at 615, 703 S.E.2d at 586. "[A]n 'adverse use' of land is a wrongful 

I 
10 



use, made without the express or implied permission of the mvner the land." Syl. Pt. 5. 

I 
I 

id. Further, "a use of another's land that began as pennissive \vill not become adverse 

unless the license (created by the granting of permission) is repudiated." Sy 1. Pt. 6, id. 

In the instant case, there is record evidence to support the Circuit Court's factual 

finding that to the extent that the Petitioners traversed the New Property for purposes of 

accessing the Old Property, the Petitioners did so with the Respondents' permission. 

(App. Vol. IILA at 92-95 (Craig): App. Vol. III.B at 202-203 (Karen): App. Vol. III.B at 

234-235 (David).) In fact, during his testimony, Michael affirmatively stated that he "had 

an agreement" with David regarding Michael's use of the New Property. (App. Vol. IILA 

at 27.) An agreement necessarily implies pennission. See Black's Law Dictiona[\l . . -
"agreement" (lOth ed. 2014) ("A mutual understanding between two or more persons 

about their relative rights and duties regarding past or future performances: a 

manifestation of mutual assent by two or more persons. "). 

Moreover, the Petitioners have not demonstrated (nor can they) that such 

permission was revoked more than 1 0 years ago (so as to satisfy the statutory period 

needed for a prescriptive easement). (App. Vol. III.B at 250 (David testified that none of 

his brothers ever crossed the New- Property over his objection, never mind for a period of 

10 or more years).) 

11 



There is record evidence that the Respondents merely jaCitly authorized the 
I 

Petitioners to cross the New Property as a familial gesture. (App. Vol. IILA at 26-27; 

App. Vol. IILB at 234-235.) Indeed, given the family relations betvveen the parties, it 

\V'ould have been completely odd and out of character to affirmatively tell a sibling that 

they could cross your land. See O'Dell, 226 W. Va. at 613, 703 S.E.2d at 584 

("Permission may be inferred from the neighborly relation of the parties, or from other 

circumstances." (internal quotation marks omitted)); id at 614,703 S.E.2d at 585 ("Uses 

'made in subordination to the property o\vner' include uses by someone closely related by 

blood .... Because these uses are essentially authorized by the property mvner, the use is 

not adverse." (quoting Restatement (Third) of Property: (Servitudes), § 2.16, cmt. f 

(2000))); see also Restatement (Third) of Property: Servitudes § 2.16 cmt. g (such 

implied permission "rests on the perceptions that Americans are both neighborly and 

litigious, so that an unauthorized use \vould have been objected to"); Warsaw v. Chi, 

A1etallic Ceilings, I11C., 676 P.2d 584,588 (Cal. 1984) (II'Whether the use is hostile or is 

12 



i 
merely a matter of neighborly accommodation ... is a question o~ fact to be detennined 

in light of the sUlTounding circumstances and the relationship between the parties.").3 

In their brief, the Petitioners contend that the Respondents' testimony regarding 

pennission is not credible. See Appellants' Br. at 17-19. How-ever, as previously noted, 

credibility is solely for the trier of fact and will not generally be disturbed on appeal. See 

supra Part 11.1. To the extent that the Petitioners point out the technical difference 

between giving permission and tacit authorization, see Appellants' Br. at 17-18, that is a 

difference without a distinction. See O'Dell, 226 vv. Va. at 614, 703 S.E.2d at 585 ("[I]n 

the context of prescriptive easements, an 'adverse use' of land is a wrongful use, made 

\vithout the express or implied permission of the owner of the land. " (emphasis added)). 

Clearly, \vhether the Respondents granted the Petitioners pennission expressly or 

implicitly, the result is the same-pennission. Furthermore, in any event as noted above, 

the Respondents proffered more than just their mvn testimony in support of their 

contention that the Petitioners' use \vas permissive. (App. Vol. IILA at 27 (Michael); id. 

at 92-95 (Craig); App. Vol. III.B at 202-203 (Karen).) 

3See State ex re!. Cosner v. See, 129 W. Va. 722, 736, 42 S.E.2d 31, 40 (1947) 
(where no prior vVest Virginia decision exists on the particular question at hand, "recourse 
may be had to the decisions of the appellate cOUlis of other jurisdictions in which 
somewhat similar [issues] have been considered"); Edlis} Inc. v. kiillel', 132 W. Va. 147, 
167, 51 S.E.2d 132, 141-42 (1948) (w-hile not binding precedent, cases from other 
jurisdictions "are, hovvever, entitled to great respect and should be regarded as persuasive 
authority"). ' 

13 
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Therefore. because there is a reasonable basis in the record for the Circuit Court to 
, I 

find that the Petitioners crossed the Respondents l land \vith the latter's pennission, the 

Circuit Court1s detennination that the Petitioners' alleged prescriptive easement failed on 

that basis must be affinned. 

b. Alternatively, the Petitioners' Use "Vas Not 
Open and Notorious 

"To establish that an adverse use was 'open and notorious,' the person claiming a 

prescriptive easement must show that the wrongful use was visible and apparent, was not 

made stealthily or in secret, and was so conspicuous and obvious that a reasonable, 

prudent mvner of land \vould have noticed." O'Dell, 226 \V. Va. at 619, 703 S.E.2d at 

590. 

In the instant case, there are no visible signs of the alleged easement so as to make 

it reasonably susceptible of detection. (App. Vol. LB at 192,204,213-216; App. Vol. 

IILA at 31, 140 (Michael and Petitioners' surveyor both testified that the alleged easement 

was not, nor had it ever been, paved).) 

Indeed. the Petitioners' O'vvn survevor testified that there was no evidence that 
, -

anyone had used the alleged easement at all after 2006. (App. Vol. IILB at 167.) In fact, 

the Petitioners' expert had trouble describing where the alleged ~asement \vas located. 

(App. Vol. IILA at 113-114 (Petitioners' surveyor testified that the lalleged easement "was 
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i 
leveled out in spots" and "looked like a trace of a right-of-way"); id! at 120 (surveyor saw 

"traces of an area that verv well could have been a rifIht-of-wav" \vhere Michael told him 
-' ~-' 

the alleged easement \vas located); id at 134 (surveyor was unable to draw on a Google 

map printout where the alleged easement \vas located); id at 140 (one \vould have to be 

physically on the property to be able to see evidence of the alleged easement).) 

Furthermore, once Michael sold David the New Property in 1999, Michael 

traversed the Ne\v Property only sporadically. (App. Vol. III.A at 77, 94: App. Vol. III.B 

at 242-243.) And even then, much of that use was just to access the Ne\v Property itself 

rather than to access the Old Property. (App. Vol. III.A at 77 (saw mill); App. Vol. II at 

24-25 (to park vehicles and store timber).) 

To the extent that the Petitioners contend that the Respondents' testimony 

regarding this element is not credible, see Appellants' Br. at 20, credibility is solely for 

the trier of fact and will not generally be disturbed on appeaL see supra Part II.1. To the 

extent that the Petitioners contend that the Respondents must have kno\vn about 

Michael's traversing the New Property due to their physical proximity to the purported 

easement, see Appellants' Br. at 20, that too is a credibility determination. In any event, 

the fact that the Respondents did not notice Michael crossing the land on which they 

reside stronfIlv SUfIfIests that Michael's use of the allefIed easement was not sufficientlv 
"-' .I ............... ....... .,I 

open and notorious, for if it \vas, the Respondents surely \vould ha\te noticed. 

15 



i 
Therefore. because there is a reasonable basis in the record for the Circuit Comi to , I 

I 

find that the Petitioners' use of the Respondents' land \vas not open and notorious, the 

Circuit Comi's determination that the Petitioners' alleged prescriptive easement failed on 

that basis must be affinned. 

c. The Continuity and Identification Elements 
In their brief, the Petitioners attack the judgment below for not addressing the 

continuity and identification elements (the second and fourth elements) of a prescriptive 

easement claim. See Appellants' Br. at 19 & 21-23. 

Yet as noted above, given that the Circuit Court detennined that the first and third 

elements of the claim were not satisfied (App. Vol. I.B at 166), there was no need to 

address the second and fourth elements of the claim. Svl. Pt 3. O'Dell. 226 \V. Va. 590 . 
.; J ~ " 

703 S.E.2d 561 (lithe failure to establish anyone element [of a prescriptive easement] is 

fatal to the claim" (emphasis added)).

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